

**Effects of weight-bearing basic step of calisthenics on lower limb muscle morphology,
strength and functional fitness in older women**

Xiaoying Peng ^{1#}, Tang Zhou ^{1#}, Hua Wu ², Yiyan Li ³, Jiajia Liu ¹, Huan Huang ¹, Changshuang
He ¹, Shaoyu Guo ^{1,4}, Muiyang Huan ¹, Lei Shi ¹, Peijie Chen ^{1*}, Minghui Quan ^{1,5*}

¹ School of Exercise and Health, Shanghai University of Sport, Shanghai 200438, China

² Rehabilitation Medicine Center, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Jiaying University, Jiaying,
China

³Shenzhen Longhua School Affiliated to East China Normal University, Shenzhen 518110, China

⁴High School Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai 200433, China

⁵ Shanghai Frontiers Science Research Base of Exercise and Metabolic Health, Shanghai
University of Sport, Shanghai 200438, China

[#] contributed equally

^{*} Corresponding authors.

School of Exercise and Health, Shanghai University of Sport

399 Chang Hai Road, Yang Pu district Shanghai 200438, China. E-mail address:
quanminghui@163.com (M.Quan)

chenpeijie@sus.edu.cn (P.Chen)

20 **Abstract**

21 **Objective:** To investigate the effects of 12-week weight-bearing basic step of calisthenics
22 muscle morphology, strength and functional fitness in older women.

23 **Methods:** This controlled study recruited 37 elderly ~~male~~ participants and was divided into
24 intervention and control groups according to willingness. The intervention group received a 90-
25 minute weight-bearing basic step exercise thrice a week for 12 weeks, while the control group
26 ~~was kept without any intervention~~ maintained normal activities. The groups were then compared
27 by measuring muscle thickness, fiber and fiber length by ~~GE LOGIQ E~~ ~~ultrasound~~, muscle strength
28 by ~~CON-TREX-M~~ ~~isokinetic dynamometer~~ and functional fitness. The morphology, strength, and
29 functional fitness ~~outcome measures~~ were compared using ANCOVA or Mann-Whitney U tests to
30 study the effects of 12 weeks of weight-bearing basic step of calisthenics


31 **Results:** Among all recruited participants, 33 completed all tests. After 12 weeks, the thickness
32 of the vastus intermedius ($F=17.85$, $P<0.01$) and quadriceps ($F=15.62$, $P<0.01$) were
33 significantly increased in the intervention compared to the control group, along with a significant
34 increase in the torque/weight of the knee flexor muscles ($F=4.47$, $P=0.04$). Similarly, the
35 intervention group showed significant improvement in the single-legged closed-eyed standing
36 test ($z=-2.16$, $P=0.03$) compared to the control group.


37 **Conclusion:** The study concluded that a 12-week weight-bearing basic step of calisthenics
38 ~~was show to possibly~~ delay the decline in muscle mass and muscle strength in elderly women and
39 improve physical function. In addition, this study provides a reference exercise program for older
40 women.

41 **Keywords:** weight-bearing exercise; calisthenics; muscle loss; functional fitness

1. Introduction

A healthy physical function determines good life quality during later life^[1], promotes an extended life expectancy among geriatrics^[2], and helps reduce mortality^[3]. Muscle mass and strength are pivotal in preserving physical function in geriatrics^[4, 5]. It has been reported that muscle strength typically reduces by approximately 30% with aging^[6], while muscle cross-sectional area experiences a reduction of around 40% within 50 years, spanning from 20 to 70 years of age^[7]. Furthermore, the transition to menopause triggers hormonal changes in women, leading to a decline in muscle mass and grip strength^[8]. Considering that women have longer life expectancy than men, the susceptibility to muscle loss may increase^[9]. Therefore, recognizing the decline in muscle mass and strength, particularly among older women, holds vital practical implications for enhancing their physical function, and promoting healthy aging.

Physical activity is a potent protective strategy for delaying muscle loss and muscle strength decline in the elderly^[10]. It is recommended that geriatrics should engage in different physical activities, including resistance exercise and balance training^[11, 12]. A prospective study reported that weight-bearing, a resistance exercise using the body's weight as a load or introducing external weights through vests or pockets, enhanced muscle strength in premenopausal women^[15]. Nevertheless, weight-bearing walking or running has shortcomings, such as lack of engagement and low adherence^[16, 17]. In contrast, basic step of calisthenics  enhance geriatrics' interest and enthusiasm, demanding engagement in muscular strength, endurance, balance coordination, cardiopulmonary endurance and cognitive involvement. However, it provides sufficient stimulation to the skeletal muscles required for substantial muscle strength enhancement^[18, 19].

Since weight-bearing exercise amplifies training intensity and augments skeletal muscle stimulation, calisthenics can heighten interest and engagement among geriatrics. Therefore, amalgamating these dual exercise modes can address the limitations of singular training approaches and enhance outcomes regarding muscle mass, strength, and physical fitness. ~~Based on that,~~ Therefore the present study ~~explores-explored~~ the impact of basic step calisthenics .

weight-bearing exercises on the geriatric population's lower limb muscle morphology, strength, and functional fitness. It is hypothesized that geriatric women are envisaged to exhibit favorable adherence rates. Moreover, it is also envisaged that a 12-week ~~weight-bearing basic step of~~ weighted calisthenics program will yield augmented lower limb muscle dimensions, increase muscular strength, and enhance functional fitness among geriatric women.




2. Methods

2.1 Participants

Thirty-seven geriatric women were recruited by ~~pasting the~~advertising posters in the community and online platforms in the Yangpu and Hongkou districts of Shanghai. We enrolled all participants who met the following inclusion criteria: 1) women aged 60-75 years old; 2) had no regular exercise habit, specifically defined as exercise <3 times per week and duration <30 minutes each time; 3) signed informed consent and participated voluntarily. And all those were excluded for meeting the criteria: 1) individuals deemed at risk for exercise or advised against participating by medical professionals; 2) those affected by conditions that hinder physical activity, such as arthritis, joint replacements, or bone fractures; 3) participants who did not complete the entire experiment, resulting in incomplete experimental data.

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shanghai Institute of Physical Education (Registration No.: 102772020RT096), and clinical registration also approved (Registration No.: ChiCTR2100047187).

2.2 Intervention

Thirty-seven participants were divided into two groups based ~~on~~upon their own preference, where 20 participants ~~were assigned to~~were in the intervention, and 17 were ~~assigned to~~in the control group based on their willingness. Participants in the intervention group carried out 12 weeks of weight-bearing aerobic training  times a week, totaling 90 minutes,  including 10 minutes of warm-up, 60 minutes of exercise, 10-minute stretching, and two 5-minute rest periods. The music accompanied the exercise routine set at approximately 130 beats per minute. The subjects were engaged in basic steps calisthenics  including but not limited to

march, walk, easy walk, mambo, V-step, grapevine, step touch, leg curl, and knee lift up.

All the participants were made to wear a weight-bearing vest which the number of lead plates was gradually increased to increase the load. In the first week, participants acquainted themselves with the basic steps of calisthenics without load. Subsequently, the load was systematically increased, as shown in Table 1.

To adjust the intensity of exercise promptly and to prevent potential accidents, subjects wore a heart rate monitor (Polar OH1) to monitor real-time heart rate. Exercise intensity was formulated as 60%-75% of maximum heart rate^[20], where [age predicted](#) maximum heart rate = 220 - age.

2.3 Measurements

2.3.1 Measurement of muscle morphology

Muscle thickness, fiber length, pennation angle of the rectus femoris (RF), vastus intermedius (VI), soleus, medial gastrocnemius (GM), and lateral gastrocnemius (GL) in the dominant leg were measured using a portable ultrasound device (LOGIQ e, US, L4-12t).

The RF and VI were measured at the midpoint between the femur's greater trochanter and lateral condyle, with the subject lying supine and relaxed. Soleus, GL, and GM muscles were measured at the proximal 1/3 between the medial femoral condyle and the medial ankle, with the body in the prone position. Each muscle was measured three times, and the results were averaged.

2.3.2 Measurement of muscle strength

The dominant leg's peak torque and endurance of the knee flexor and extensor muscle were measured using ~~the~~ [an isokinetic dynamometer](#) (CON-TREX-MJ-~~1~~, PHYSIOMED, Germany). The isometric strength testing protocol was as follows: 1) peak torque: flexor/extensor, centripetal/centripetal, 60°/60° angular velocity, 5 repetitions; 2) endurance: centripetal/centripetal, 180°/180° angular velocity, 20 repetitions.

120 **2.3.3 Measurement of functional fitness**

121 **2.3.3.1 2-minute step test**

122 The two-minute step test reflected aerobic endurance. Participants were instructed to raise
123 their knees to a height equivalent to the midpoint between their anterior superior iliac spine and
124 patella. In the event of failure to raise knees to a specified height or do so on only one side, those
125 were not counted. Participants were allowed to pause, rest, and then restart till completion of the
126 2-minute duration.

127 **2.3.3.2 30-second chair stand (30s CST)**

128 Lower body strength was evaluated by 30s CST. Participants were positioned in the center
129 of a 43 cm high chair, with their feet resting flat on the ground and their arms crossed in front of
130 their chests. Upon the command "start," participants were required to stand upright and return to
131 a complete sitting position. The count of times participants completed the entire stand-sit cycle
132 within a 30-second interval was recorded.

133 **2.3.3.3 Chair sit-and-reach (CSR)**

134 The lower limb flexibility was evaluated via CSR. The seated participants were made to
135 extend their one leg and bend forward slowly, sliding the hands down the extended leg to touch
136 (or past) the toes. The score was the distance between the tip of the middle finger and the toe. The
137 score 0 was assigned if they succeeded in touching the toe, while if the middle fingers could not,
138 the score was marked as a negative number (-). Similarly, if the middle finger extended beyond
139 the tip of the foot, the distance score was recorded as a positive number (+). All measurements
140 were taken twice, with the maximum distance recorded as the final score.

141 **2.3.3.4 Time up and go (TUG)**

142 TUG reflects dynamic balance and walking ability. Participants were required to sit in a 45
143 cm high chair, and walk a 3 m course as fast as possible, then walk back to the chair and sit again.
144 The time taken, measured in seconds, was recorded. Each participant was tested twice, and the
145 average was taken.

2.3.3.5 Single-legged closed-eyed standing test (SCST)

SCST reflected the subject's static balance. The subject was made to stand with eyes closed, and when hearing the command "start", following which, they had to lift one foot off the ground. The tester time was simultaneously started, while stop timing was defined as when the supporting foot moved or the raised foot touched the ground. The results were kept in two decimal places and were measured in seconds.

2.3.4 Compliance and attendance rates

Attendance records were maintained for each training session, and compliance was determined by comparing the number of people eventually included in the statistical analysis to the total number of people recruited. The attendance rate was calculated as follows^[21]:


$$\text{Attendance rate} = \frac{\sum \text{Number of sessions attended each person}}{36}$$

2.4 Statistical analysis

The paired-sample t-test was used for intra-group differences comparison. Effect size, Cohen's d, was calculated, and categorized as small ($0.2 \leq \text{Cohen's } d < 0.5$), medium ($0.5 \leq \text{Cohen's } d < 0.8$), or large ($\text{Cohen's } d \geq 0.8$) effect sizes^[22]. With pre-test data as a covariate, ANCOVA was employed to compare inter-group differences. Effect size, partial η^2 , defines small, medium, and large effect sizes as 0.01, 0.06, and 0.14^[23]. In cases where data did not conform to a normal distribution, and there was an interaction between the treatment factors and the pre-test data, Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyze the differences between the two groups pre and post-test change values, where effect size(r) was calculated by dividing the Z-score by the square root of N, indicating a large effect size using Cohen's d criteria of 0.10, 0.30, and 0.50 for defining small, medium, and large effect sizes, respectively^[24]. All statistical analysis were conducted using SPSS (version 26.0), with significant differences at $P < 0.05$ and borderline significance at $0.05 \leq P < 0.1$.

3. Result

3.1 Basic Information

Among all participants, two participants from each intervention group and control group withdrew due to poor transportation and inability to ~~train~~exercise consistently, which reduced the total number of participants to 33, with 18 in the intervention and 15 in the control group. The experimental process is shown in Figure 1. Apart from age, no significant differences were observed between the two groups in height, weight, BMI, duration of menopause, and age at menopause. An overall compliance rate of 89.19% was observed, with the intervention group displaying a 90% compliance rate.  attendance rate in the intervention group reached 95.99%. The average heart rate in the intervention group was 112.5 beats per minute, ~~about~~which represented approximately 72% maximum heart rate (Table 2).

3.2 The effects on muscle morphological

The morphological results of the knee extensor and flexor muscles are shown in Table 3. Compared to baseline values, after 12 weeks of intervention, the thickness of the VI and quadriceps in the intervention group increased by 0.27 ± 0.44 cm ($P=0.02$) and 0.40 ± 0.61 cm ($P=0.01$), respectively. The RF had a trend of thickening (Cohen's $d=0.41$, $P=0.095$), with a reducing trend in RF pennation angle (Cohen's $d=0.42$, $P=0.09$). In contrast, the control group displayed a potential decline in the thickness of VI at the end of the 12-week duration (Cohen's $d=0.48$, $P=0.09$).

Moreover, compared to the control group, the VI and quadriceps thickness in the intervention group increased ($F=17.85$, $P<0.01$, partial $\eta^2=0.37$ and $F=15.62$, $P<0.01$, partial $\eta^2=0.34$), with a marginally significant increase in the thickness of soleus ($F=3.59$, $P=0.07$, partial $\eta^2=0.11$).

However, no significant difference was observed between groups regarding the thickness of RF, soleus, GL and GM, the length of all muscle fibers and the pennation angle.

3.3 The effects on muscle strength

The results of isokinetic muscle strength of the knee extensor and flexor muscles are shown in Table 4. The results indicated that after 12 weeks of intervention, the peak torque of knee

flexors in the intervention group increased by 5.54 ± 4.81 Nm/kg compared with the pre-test, accompanied by a noteworthy rise in the peak torque/body weight ratio of 0.06 ± 0.10 Nm/kg. Furthermore, knee peak torque flexors/extensors significantly increased by $7.21 \pm 10.43\%$. Conversely, no similar considerable change was detected in the control group.

Upon accounting for baseline differences ($P=0.02$) through covariance analysis, a significant increase was observed in the intervention group in terms of flexors peak torque/body weight ratio after the 12-week intervention, in comparison to the control group ($F=4.47$, $P=0.04$, partial $\eta^2=0.13$).

3.4 The effects on functional fitness

The results of functional fitness are shown in Table 4. The results showed that the SCST in the intervention group increased by 3.91 ± 5.35 s ($P<0.01$) after 12 weeks of intervention, which was significantly increased compared to the control group ($z=-2.16$, $P=0.04$).

Although the 30s CST in the intervention group tended to increase (Cohen's $d=0.46$, $P=0.07$), a similar significant increase was observed in the control group ($P<0.01$); thus, there was no significant difference between the two groups.

4. Discussion

The results of the 12-week exercise intervention ~~showed~~ indicated that ~~the basic step exercise of~~ weight-bearing calisthenics could increase the thickness of the lower limb muscles, the strength of knee flexion muscles, and improve the static balance ability.

4.1 Muscle Morphology

4.1.1 Muscle thickness

The study had various movements, such as kneeling steps and kicking, which engaged the quadriceps, particularly the VI muscle responsible for knee extension (39.6 to 51.8% contribution)^[25], which has been reported to considerably benefit the VI muscle^[26, 27]. After 12 weeks of intervention, the thickness of VI increased while reduced in the control group, cementing the claim that the weight-bearing basic step of calisthenics has specific effects on

225 delaying muscle loss and increasing knee extender muscle mass^[28]. Similarly, the RF displayed a
226 trend of thickening while quadriceps were found to have increased thickness in the intervention
227 group, paralleling earlier research which showed that eight weeks of aerobic exercise at 60 to
228 80% Max VO₂ intensity significantly improved the thickness of quadriceps in the subjects ^[29].

229 By introducing additional weight-loading, muscles involved in the ankle strategy, such as
230 the tibialis anterior and soleus^[30], are activated to maintain body balance. Previous studies
231 indicated that wearing weight-bearing vests during exercise contributes to lower limb muscle
232 mass increase^[31, 32]. Our study observed a mere trend of thickening in the soleus in the
233 intervention group, without significant differences compared to the control group, which could be
234 attributed to methodological differences. Prior studies often quantified overall lower limb muscle
235 mass through techniques like nuclear magnetic or dual-energy X-ray absorption^[33], whereas this
236 study primarily measured the thickness of specific muscles. Additionally, the applied weight in
237 earlier studies was notably higher, reaching up to 10% of participants' body weight^[32].

238 **4.1.2 Muscle fiber length and pennation angle**

239 Studies have demonstrated that in addition to inducing significant muscle hypertrophy,
240 aerobic exercise training has the potential to influence muscle structure, especially muscle fiber
241 length and pennation angle. These structural changes, in turn, can modify contraction properties
242 and enhance overall muscle function^[34]. However, aside from a marginal decrease in the RF
243 pennation angle within the intervention group, other muscles' fiber lengths and pennation angles
244 remained essentially unchanged compared to the baseline, which was in contrast to specific
245 studies in which resistance or centrifugal exercises elicited varying degrees of muscle fiber length
246 and pennation angle increments^[28, 35]. Nevertheless, these results were similar to studies where
247 exercise interventions did not yield significant modifications in pennation angle and fiber
248 length^[36, 37].

249 **4.2 Muscle strength**

250 Previous studies have shown that physical activity can enhance muscle strength and balance,
251 significantly reducing the risk of falls and fractures^[38]. Moreover, consistent participation in low-

impact aerobic walking exercises can substantially improve knee extension torque among active individuals compared to their sedentary counterparts^[39, 40]. Following the 12-week intervention, no significantly altered knee extension torque was observed in the intervention group; however, the peak torque/weight ratio of knee flexors in the intervention group was greatly improved compared to the control group, which was consistent with previous studies that aerobic and resistance exercises contribute to the enhancement of knee muscle strength^[41, 42].

After 12 weeks of intervention, the intervention group's flexors peak torque /extensors peak torque (H: Q) increased from 0.57 to 0.64. The typical H: Q ratio is approximately 0.6 for individuals without any musculoskeletal issues, which tends to decline with age. A lower H: Q ratio may indicate the imbalance of lower limb muscle strength and the occurrence of leg injury^[43]. The increased H: Q observed in this study might be related to an increase of knee flexion torque. Despite the prominent involvement of the quadriceps during the exercise regimen, the torque of the flexion muscle group increased, which could be attributed to the activation of antagonistic muscle groups, namely the flexion muscle group, during the exercise routine. This activation helps maintain dynamic balance, aids ligaments in preserving joint stability, and ensures even distribution of pressure across joint surfaces, particularly when executing rapid changes in the direction of basic aerobic steps^[44].

4.3 Functional fitness

Functional fitness is the ability of the human body to carry out daily activities independently and safely without fatigue^[45]. Enhanced functional fitness is associated with lower abdominal fat^[46] and health-related quality of life in geriatrics^[47].

One-leg standing is a standard balance indicator, with eyes open or closed in two states. Previous studies have shown that patients unable to sustain one-legged balance for 5 seconds with their eyes closed are 2.1 times more likely to fall than those who can maintain balance for more than 5 seconds^[48]. Additionally, time spent on SCST was negatively correlated with somatic symptoms and anxiety/insomnia^[49]. The SCST can enhance the arterial resilience of the

278 supporting leg^[50], thereby fostering cardiovascular well-being and preventing cardiovascular
279 diseases in geriatric women. These dual benefits represent the significance of SCST as an
280 indicator of balance ability and a predictive measure for fall susceptibility, thus reflecting overall
281 health status. Evident improvements were observed in SCST following the 12-week intervention,
282 consistent with previous findings^[51, 52]. Notably, before the intervention, a majority (56%) of
283 participants in the intervention group exhibited SCST durations of less than 5 seconds, which
284 substantially decreased to 28% after the intervention. Conversely, the control group witnessed an
285 increase in individuals with sub-5-second SCST from 47 to 53%. This highlights that 12-week
286 weight-bearing exercise can improve static balance in geriatric adults and potentially further
287 reduce the risk of falls and fractures.

288 At the same time, in intervention group, 30s CST reflecting muscle strength, also showed an
289 increasing trend, indicating exercise can improve the physical function of sitting and standing
290 tests in geriatrics^[53]. This result was consistent with the above findings of improved muscle
291 strength in the knee extensor and flexor muscles. In contrast to previous studies^[54], this study did
292 not yield evidence of weight-bearing exercise leading to improvement in the 2-minute step test
293 and TUG, which could be attributed to the prior studies involving frail subjects^[55] or older adults
294 suffering from knee osteoarthritis. Notably, the geriatric subjects in this study with good physical
295 condition had great physical function. Achieving more substantial enhancements in physical
296 performance could necessitate an extended intervention period (>16 weeks)^[54, 56] and more
297 exercise to bring about significant improvement in physical performance.

298 **4.4 Compliance and attendance rate**

299 Compliance is closely related to the intervention effect^[57]. In this experiment, weight-bearing
300 exercise and calisthenics were combined, yielding an impressive overall compliance rate of
301 89.19%. Notably, the intervention group exhibited an even higher compliance rate of 90%,
302 surpassing the compliance rates of prior weight-bearing exercise studies (80.4%^[17] and 84%^[16],
303 respectively). Compared with the attendance rates of 79.7%^[21] and 83%^[58] in other combined

exercise studies using weight-bearing vests, the attendance rate of 95.99% in this experiment was higher. These compliance and attendance outcomes underscore that the combination of weight-bearing exercise and calisthenics was more readily accepted by geriatric subjects, thereby amplifying the feasibility of the study. In future studies, it is crucial to prioritize a thorough of the real-life conditions faced by geriatrics and to explore the types of exercise ensuring higher acceptability for achieving the expected effect.

4.5 Limitations

This study has certain limitations that should be acknowledged. Due to COVID-19, intention grouping was adopted instead of a random group, potentially impacting the overall evidence level of the study. The participants were all geriatric women, which restricts the generalizability of the findings to other age groups or genders. For further studies, broadening the study population to include older men aged 60-75 years could provide insights into the impact of weight-bearing basic steps calisthenics on the lower limb muscles of older adults.

5. Conclusion

The study concluded that a 12-week weight-bearing basic step of calisthenics could delay the decline of muscle mass and muscle strength in elderly women, and improve physical function, thus improving the quality of life. In addition, this study provides a reference exercise program for older women and provides a reference for older women to participate in sports.

Author contributions

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Xiaoying Peng. The article was reviewing and editing by Tangzhou and Minghui Quan. Material preparation were performed by Tang Zhou, Yiyang Li. Data collection were performed by Xiaoying Peng, Tang Zhou, Yiyang Li, Jiajia Liu, Huan Huang, Changshuang He, Shaoyu Guo, Muiyang Huan, Lei Shi. Funding was acquired by Minghui Quan. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

331 **Abbreviation**

332 RF: rectus femoris

333 VI: vastus intermedius

334 GM: medial gastrocnemius

335 GL: lateral gastrocnemius

336 H: Q : flexors peak torque /extensors peak torque

337 30s CST: 30 second chair stand

338 CSR: chair sit-and-reach

339 TUG: timed up and go

340 STCT: single-legged closed-eyed standing test

341 BMI: Body Mass Index

References

- [1] STUDENSKI S, PERERA S, WALLACE D, et al. Physical performance measures in the clinical setting [J]. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 2003, 51(3): 314-22.
- [2] KATZ S, BRANCH L G, BRANSON M H, et al. Active life expectancy [J]. *N Engl J Med*, 1983, 309(20): 1218-24.
- [3] STUDENSKI S, PERERA S, PATEL K, et al. Gait speed and survival in older adults [J]. *Jama*, 2011, 305(1): 50-8.
- [4] GARIBALLA S, ALESSA A. Sarcopenia: prevalence and prognostic significance in hospitalized patients [J]. *Clin Nutr*, 2013, 32(5): 772-6.
- [5] LANDI F, LIPEROTI R, RUSSO A, et al. Sarcopenia as a risk factor for falls in elderly individuals: results from the iLSIRENTE study [J]. *Clin Nutr*, 2012, 31(5): 652-8.
- [6] AOYAGI Y, SHEPHARD R J. Aging and muscle function [J]. *Sports Med*, 1992, 14(6): 376-96.
- [7] ROGERS M A, EVANS W J. Changes in skeletal muscle with aging: effects of exercise training [J]. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, 1993, 21: 65-102.
- [8] MESSIER V, RABASA-LHORET R, BARBAT-ARTIGAS S, et al. Menopause and sarcopenia: A potential role for sex hormones [J]. *Maturitas*, 2011, 68(4): 331-6.
- [9] JAVED A A, MAYHEW A J, SHEA A K, et al. Association Between Hormone Therapy and Muscle Mass in Postmenopausal Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis [J]. *JAMA Netw Open*, 2019, 2(8): e1910154.
- [10] CRUZ-JENTOFT A J, LANDI F, SCHNEIDER S M, et al. Prevalence of and interventions for sarcopenia in ageing adults: a systematic review. Report of the International Sarcopenia Initiative (EWGSOP and IWGS) [J]. *Age Ageing*, 2014, 43(6): 748-59.
- [11] CRUZ-JENTOFT A J, BAHAT G, BAUER J, et al. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis [J]. *Age Ageing*, 2019, 48(1): 16-31.
- [12] PIERCY K L, TROIANO R P, BALLARD R M, et al. The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans [J]. *Jama*, 2018, 320(19): 2020-8.
- [13] WATANABE Y, TANIMOTO M, OBA N, et al. Effect of resistance training using bodyweight in the elderly: Comparison of resistance exercise movement between slow and normal speed movement [J]. *Geriatr Gerontol Int*, 2015, 15(12): 1270-7.
- [14] HEWETT T E, STROUPE A L, NANCE T A, et al. Plyometric training in female athletes. Decreased impact forces and increased hamstring torques [J]. *Am J Sports Med*, 1996, 24(6): 765-73.
- [15] ROCKWELL J C, SORENSEN A M, BAKER S, et al. Weight training decreases vertebral bone density in premenopausal women: a prospective study [J]. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 1990, 71(4): 988-93.
- [16] WINTERS-STONE K M, DOBEK J C, BENNETT J A, et al. Skeletal response to

- resistance and impact training in prostate cancer survivors [J]. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 2014, 46(8): 1482-8.
- [17] KIM S H, SEONG D H, YOON S M, et al. The Effect on Bone Outcomes of Home-based Exercise Intervention for Prostate Cancer Survivors Receiving Androgen Deprivation Therapy: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial [J]. *Cancer Nurs*, 2018, 41(5): 379-88.
- [18] TSOURLOU T, GERODIMOS V, KELLIS E, et al. The effects of a calisthenics and a light strength training program on lower limb muscle strength and body composition in mature women [J]. *J Strength Cond Res*, 2003, 17(3): 590-8.
- [19] MARCINIK E J, HODGDON J A, O'BRIEN J J, et al. Fitness changes of naval women following aerobic based programs featuring calisthenic or circuit weight training exercises [J]. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 1985, 54(3): 244-9.
- [20] PESCATELLO L S. Physical activity, cardiometabolic health and older adults: recent findings [J]. *Sports Med*, 1999, 28(5): 315-23.
- [21] KLENTROU P, SLACK J, ROY B, et al. Effects of exercise training with weighted vests on bone turnover and isokinetic strength in postmenopausal women [J]. *J Aging Phys Act*, 2007, 15(3): 287-99.
- [22] COHEN J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed [M]. *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*, 1988.
- [23] COHEN J. A power primer [J]. *Psychol Bull*, 1992, 112(1): 155-9.
- [24] ROSENTHAL R. Parametric measures of effect size, F, 1994 [C].
- [25] ZHANG L Q, WANG G, NUBER G W, et al. In vivo load sharing among the quadriceps components [J]. *J Orthop Res*, 2003, 21(3): 565-71.
- [26] CHEON S, LEE J H, JUN H P, et al. Acute Effects of Open Kinetic Chain Exercise Versus Those of Closed Kinetic Chain Exercise on Quadriceps Muscle Thickness in Healthy Adults [J]. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 2020, 17(13).
- [27] YANG J H, EUN S P, PARK D H, et al. The Effects of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction on Individual Quadriceps Muscle Thickness and Circulating Biomarkers [J]. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 2019, 16(24).
- [28] RODRIGUEZ-LOPEZ C, ALCAZAR J, SANCHEZ-MARTIN C, et al. Neuromuscular adaptations after 12 weeks of light- vs. heavy-load power-oriented resistance training in older adults [J]. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 2022, 32(2): 324-37.
- [29] ZENITH L, MEENA N, RAMADI A, et al. Eight weeks of exercise training increases aerobic capacity and muscle mass and reduces fatigue in patients with cirrhosis [J]. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 2014, 12(11): 1920-6.e2.
- [30] KIM S G, NAM C W, YONG M S. The effect of increase in baggage weight on elderly women's lower extremity muscle activation during gait [J]. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*, 2014, 59(3): 574-6.
- [31] FIGUEROA A, GOING S B, MILLIKEN L A, et al. Effects of exercise training and

- hormone replacement therapy on lean and fat mass in postmenopausal women [J]. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 2003, 58(3): 266-70.
- [32] SHAW J M, SNOW C M. Weighted vest exercise improves indices of fall risk in older women [J]. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 1998, 53(1): M53-8.
- [33] BROWN M, BIRGE S J, KOHRT W M. Hormone replacement therapy does not augment gains in muscle strength or fat-free mass in response to weight-bearing exercise [J]. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 1997, 52(3): B166-70.
- [34] HARBER M P, KONOPKA A R, DOUGLASS M D, et al. Aerobic exercise training improves whole muscle and single myofiber size and function in older women [J]. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 2009, 297(5): R1452-9.
- [35] SEYNNES O R, DE BOER M, NARICI M V. Early skeletal muscle hypertrophy and architectural changes in response to high-intensity resistance training [J]. *J Appl Physiol* (1985), 2007, 102(1): 368-73.
- [36] RAJ I S, BIRD S R, WESTFOLD B A, et al. Effects of eccentrically biased versus conventional weight training in older adults [J]. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 2012, 44(6): 1167-76.
- [37] ERSKINE R M, JONES D A, WILLIAMS A G, et al. Resistance training increases in vivo quadriceps femoris muscle specific tension in young men [J]. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*, 2010, 199(1): 83-9.
- [38] STEVENS J A, OLSON S. Reducing falls and resulting hip fractures among older women [J]. *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2000, 49(Rr-2): 3-12.
- [39] YANG C B, HSU C H, HUANG C N, et al. The influence of low-impact dance intervention on bone metabolism, cognition, and function fitness of old women [J]. *J Women Aging*, 2022, 34(4): 438-48.
- [40] WEN H J, HUANG T H, LI T L, et al. Effects of short-term step aerobics exercise on bone metabolism and functional fitness in postmenopausal women with low bone mass [J]. *Osteoporos Int*, 2017, 28(2): 539-47.
- [41] MOURA T G, NAGATA C A, GARCIA P A. The influence of isokinetic peak torque and muscular power on the functional performance of active and inactive community-dwelling elderly: a cross-sectional study [J]. *Braz J Phys Ther*, 2020, 24(3): 256-63.
- [42] BAI X, SOH K G, OMAR DEV R D, et al. Aerobic Exercise Combination Intervention to Improve Physical Performance Among the Elderly: A Systematic Review [J]. *Front Physiol*, 2021, 12: 798068.
- [43] EVANGELIDIS P E, MASSEY G J, PAIN M T, et al. Strength and size relationships of the quadriceps and hamstrings with special reference to reciprocal muscle balance [J]. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 2016, 116(3): 593-600.
- [44] BARATTA R, SOLOMONOW M, ZHOU B H, et al. Muscular coactivation. The role of the antagonist musculature in maintaining knee stability [J]. *Am J Sports Med*, 1988, 16(2): 113-22.

- [45] RIKLI R E, JONES C J. Development and Validation of a Functional Fitness Test for Community-Residing Older Adults [J]. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 1999, 7(2): 129-61.
- [46] CHEN H H, CHEN H L, LIN Y T, et al. The Associations between Functional Fitness Test Performance and Abdominal Obesity in Healthy Elderly People: Results from the National Physical Fitness Examination Survey in Taiwan [J]. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 2020, 18(1).
- [47] CHUNG P K, ZHAO Y, LIU J D, et al. A canonical correlation analysis on the relationship between functional fitness and health-related quality of life in older adults [J]. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*, 2017, 68: 44-8.
- [48] VELLAS B J, WAYNE S J, ROMERO L, et al. One-leg balance is an important predictor of injurious falls in older persons [J]. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 1997, 45(6): 735-8.
- [49] HAYASHI K, SATO J, FUJIWARA N, et al. Associations between physical strength, cerebral function and mental health in independent-living elderly Japanese women [J]. *Environmental health and preventive medicine*, 2002, 7: 123-8.
- [50] ZHOU Z, TAO X, ZHANG Y, et al. Acute effects of one-leg standing on arterial stiffness in older women: Role of the vision condition and standing dose [J]. *Front Physiol*, 2022, 13: 1017486.
- [51] FILIPOVIĆ T N, LAZOVIĆ M P, BACKOVIĆ A N, et al. A 12-week exercise program improves functional status in postmenopausal osteoporotic women: randomized controlled study [J]. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med*, 2021, 57(1): 120-30.
- [52] VOGLER C M, SHERRINGTON C, OGLE S J, et al. Reducing risk of falling in older people discharged from hospital: a randomized controlled trial comparing seated exercises, weight-bearing exercises, and social visits [J]. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 2009, 90(8): 1317-24.
- [53] J S O, GILBERT S, PINHEIRO M B, et al. Effect of sport on health in people aged 60 years and older: a systematic review with meta-analysis [J]. *Br J Sports Med*, 2023, 57(4): 230-6.
- [54] YAMADA M, HIGUCHI T, NISHIGUCHI S, et al. Multitarget stepping program in combination with a standardized multicomponent exercise program can prevent falls in community-dwelling older adults: a randomized, controlled trial [J]. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 2013, 61(10): 1669-75.
- [55] SADJAPONG U, YODKEEREE S, SUNGKARAT S, et al. Multicomponent Exercise Program Reduces Frailty and Inflammatory Biomarkers and Improves Physical Performance in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial [J]. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 2020, 17(11).
- [56] FURUTA K, KOBAYASHI N, KOBAYASHI R, et al. A Pilot Study of a Group Program Focused on Enabling Life Performance for Older Adults Living in the Community [J]. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 2022, 19(7).

- 497 [57] ARIZA C, SÁNCHEZ-MARTÍNEZ F, SERRAL G, et al. The Incidence of Obesity,
498 Assessed as Adiposity, Is Reduced After 1 Year in Primary Schoolchildren by the POIBA
499 Intervention [J]. J Nutr, 2019, 149(2): 258-69.
- 500 [58] SNOW C M, SHAW J M, WINTERS K M, et al. Long-term exercise using weighted
501 vests prevents hip bone loss in postmenopausal women [J]. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med
502 Sci, 2000, 55(9): M489-91.
503